### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

R. L. WALKER

### APPELLANT

VERSUS

ł

#### **GEORGIA M. WALKER**

# CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01074

APPELLEE

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. JOSHUA STEVENS, JR. MSB NO ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT POST OFFICE BOX 324 WEST POINT, MS 39773 PH.(662) 494-2611 FAX. (662) 494-7888

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **R. L. WALKER**

#### APPELLANT

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01074

VERSUS

## GEORGIA M. WALKER

#### APPELLEE

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. WHETHER OR NOT THE CHANCELLOR MADE AN EQUITABLE DIVISION OF THE MARITAL ASSETS IN THIS CAUSE.
- 2. WHETHER OR NOT THE CHANCELLOR FAIRLY APPORTIONED THE INDEBTEDNESS OF THE PARTIES.
- 3. WHETHER OR NOT THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN ORDERING MR. WALKER TO PAY MRS. WALKER PERIODIC ALIMONY IN THE AMOUNT OF \$200,00 PER MONTH UNDER THE FACTS OF THE CASE.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

R. L. Walker and Georgia M. Walker were married on January 1, 1969, (R.E. 8) and lived together as husband and wife until their separation in 2004 (R.E. 22). Their only child was emancipated at the time of the trial. (R.E. 22).

It was undisputed that all property that the parties owned at the time of the divorce fell within the definition of "marital property" and was thus subject to an equitable division.

The parties entered into a consent for a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences and agreed for the Chancellor to adjudicate all economic issues between the parties, including the division of marital property and whether or not alimony was appropriate in this cause. (R.E. 22).

Mrs. Walker was an employee of the West Point Municipal Separate School District with a monthly income from the school of \$1,388.00. She also received \$689.00 per month in Social Security retirement benefits. She also had a vested PERS retirement account. (R.E. 23). The Chancellor found that her health was fair and she did not take any medication. (R.E. 23).

Mr. Walker, on the other hand, has had three heart attacks and has a pacemaker. He was required to take ten different medications each day. (R.E. 23).

At the conclusion of the trial, the Chancellor rendered her opinion in which she made certain findings of fact and conclusions of law. (R.E. 22 sequa)

The Chancellor then undertook to divide the marital property and, in addition thereto, ordered Mr. Walker to pay Mrs. Walker \$200.00 per month in alimony.

:

i

Being aggrieved of the Chancellor's proposed adjudication of the issues, Mr. Walker then filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Opinion (R.E. 30).

The Chancellor entered an order on December 27, 2006, ruling on Mr. Walker's Motion for

Reconsideration. (R.E. 85) A Final Judgment for Divorce was then entered on May 28, 2007. (R.E. 88).

Mr. Walker has appealed that Final Judgment for Divorce, contending that the Court failed to make an equitable division of the marital assets and erred in ordering him to pay alimony in the amount of \$200.00 per month under the facts of the case.

i

î.

ł

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married on January 1, 1969 and separated in 2004. They had one child who was emancipated by the time of the trial. Both parties worked throughout the marriage.

There is no dispute that all of their property was marital property and subject to an equitable division by the trial court.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, Mrs. Walker agreed to promptly file, as an exhibit in the record, documentary evidence of the vested balance of her Public Employees Retirement System Account (PERS). She failed to do this as agreed prior to the court rendering its opinion in the case.

At the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider, this proof was adduced showing a balance of \$18,399.29. However, the trial court simply awarded her this asset rather than making any adjustments to the awards of property she had previously made in the opinion. The Chancellor did reduce the alimony award from \$400.00 per month to \$200.00 per month.

To establish their respective incomes and property, the parties each introduced their respective income tax returns and Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure Statements in forms customarily used in the local chancery court practice. There was no significant disagreement as to valuations of assets.

This was a long marriage and the husband accepted and agrees with the Chancellor's conclusion that "...the contributions of both parties were of equal value."

ι

í

The parties agreed to present this case on a no-fault basis and the appellate courts have repeatedly held that economic issues are not to be adjudicated to administer punishment.

The decision of the Mississippi Supreme Court also suggest that in a case of a long marriage

where the contributions of the parties are of equal value, a 50-50 division is normally appropriate.

Appellant submits that the division of properties made by the Chancellor is a long way from being equal and clearly does not meet the test of being "equitable" under the precedents now available for guidance for attorneys and trial judges.

The award of alimony was likewise not appropriate under the proof in this case. Mrs. Walker had no indebtedness under the court's ruling. She had a nice house, fully furnished. She had an automobile debt free. Her health was good and she had an adequate monthly income and a retirement account.

Mr. Walker's health was bad and his trucking business was only modestly profitable. The Chancellor correctly found that Mr. Walker had suffered three heart attacks and had a pacemaker. At the time of the trial he was taking ten medications daily.

The Court's ruling apportioned all of the couple's debts to him, totaling \$258,281.00. He was left with a negative net worth of (\$88,431.00)!

Surely, the Court erred in ordering him to pay alimony in the amount of \$200.00 per month under these facts.

ŧ

## ARGUMENT POINT ONE: AN ANALYSIS OF THE COURT'S DIVISION OF ASSETS AND APPORTIONMENT OF DEBT INDICATES THE PROPERTY WAS NOT EQUITABLY DIVIDED

Under the Chancellor's division of property, here is the end result:

### NET WORTH OF GEORGIA M. WALKER UNDER COURT'S RULING

### ASSETS AWARDED TO WIFE

	ITEM	VALUE
(a)	Marital home	\$65,000.00
(b)	Vacant lot	\$8,500.00
( c)	Dodge Dually Pick-up	\$4,000.00
(d)	1992 Cadillac	\$5,000.00
(e)	PERS Account( as of 1/1/06)	\$18,399.29
(f)	Household goods and appliances	<u>\$15,000.00</u>
	Total Assets	\$115,899.29
<u>LIABI</u>	LITIES APPORTIONED TO WIFE	0

#### RESULTING NET WORTH OF WIFE \$115,899.29

## NET WORTH OF R. L. WALKER UNDER COURT'S RULING

.

ι

L

÷

.

į.

ι

ų

## ASSETS AWARDED TO HUSBAND

	ITEM	VALUE
(a)	2000 Freightliner	\$45,000.00
(b)	1989 GMC Silverado	\$1,500.00
( c)	2004 Denali	\$50,000.00
(d)	Guns	\$1,200.00
(e)	Duplex (rental property)	\$37,290.00
(f)	Rental home (Morgan Street)	\$34,210.00
(g)	IRA	\$650.00
(h)	John Deere Haycutter (awarded on Motion	
	To Reconsider)	\$2,000.00
(i)	Gooseneck trailer (awarded on Motion	
	To Reconsider)	\$3,000.00
(j)	Front End loader (awarded on Motion	
	To Reconsider)	<u>\$2,500.00</u>
	Total Assets	\$177,350.00

## LIABILITIES APPORTIONED TO HUSBAND

	ITEM	DEBT
(a)	Rental home (Morgan Street)	\$28,414.00

(b)	Duplex (rental property)	\$50,000.00
( c)	Freightliner (Secured by home)	\$57,000.00
(e)	Dodge auto	<b>\$867</b> .00
(f)	Denali	\$58,000.00
(g)	Chrysler	\$14,000.00
(h)	North MS Medical Center	
	(medical bills for R.L. Walker)	\$50,000.00

Total Liabilities \$258,281.00 RESULTING NEGATIVE NET WORTH OF HUSBAND (\$80,931.00)

How can this be an equitable division when the Wife receives a positive net worth of \$115,899.29 and the Husband is left with a <u>negative</u> net worth of (\$80,931.00)! This results in a disparity of \$196,830.29 ! The Chancellor simply missed it in this case. When the Chancellor revisited the issue in the Order Granting In Part Motion For Reconsideration filed December 27, 2006 (R.E. 85) the Court stated there was no credible evidence that Mr. Walker had the \$50,000.00 medical bill. Appellant challenges this finding.

Mr. Walker's sworn Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure (D-1) discloses this obligation. It was in no way disputed by Mrs. Walker. Mr. Walker had been treated for three heart attacks and had a pacemaker installed. At the trial he testified under oath that his Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure Statement was accurate. Why is his undisputed testimony not credible in this respect? It is uncontroverted!

ł

4

I.

The lower Court's analysis indicates confusion about what a balance sheet and a calculation therefrom of net worth is all about. It discloses the difference between assets and liabilities at a certain time. The division of net worth in this case should have been approximately equal. The fact that Mr. Walker may be able to pay the debt from his business in the future does not mean the Court should not divide the net worth the parties accumulated during the marriage substantially equal.

The proof is uncontroverted that Mr. and Mrs Walker's combined net worth at the time of the trial was \$34,968.29. If the division were equal, each would come out of the marriage with a positive net worth of \$17,488.14.

Considering Mr. Walker's health, he cannot expect to continue driving an eighteen wheeler much longer. He needs his future income to live on as does Mrs. Walker. She gets the marital home, debt free. Mr Walker must rent or buy another home in which to reside.

Mr Walker worked hard for many years to accumulate the net worth the parties had at the time of the divorce. He was the primary breadwinner during the marriage. His health now limits his ability to come back financially from this divorce. He accepts the proposition that the net worth he and his wife accumulated should be divided equally but does not feel that he should receive less than ½ of net marital estate.

This division by the lower Court was a miscarriage of justice.

÷

"In recent years, this court has been moving away from using divorce proceedings as a means of punishing the party adjudged to be at fault towards creating a more fair and equitable jurisprudence of divorce law." <u>Chamblee v. Chamblee</u>, 637 So. 2d 850 (Ms., 1994)

"It is difficult to adjust conventional values of morality when weighing marital misconduct for purposes of a just division of marital property." Carrow v. Carrow, 642 So. 2d 901 (Ms., 1994)

Although the lower court indicated it was attempting to apply the factors set forth in <u>Ferguson</u> <u>v. Ferguson</u>, 639 So. 2d, 921 (Ms., 1994) Appellant submits that some of the conclusions were "manifestly wrong, and clearly erroneous." <u>Sullivan v. Sullivan</u>, 2007-CA-00771-COA - Ms., 2008) If this is apparent, the appellate court should grant relief.

Specifically, the court's decision does not consider the following Ferguson factors, viz.

- 6. The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties."
- 7.. The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and earning capacity."

During their marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Walker had accumulated a modest net worth. Together, they had a combined net worth of \$34,968.29. They were entitled to a division of their assets and liabilities to give each a fair share of net marital assets of this value.

Probably no division of these marital assets can assure either party of complete financial security.

But this division clearly fails to pass muster as to fairness to Mr. Walker. Instead of receiving a share with any positive net worth, he only was awarded a negative net worth of \$80,931.00. Then he was ordered to pay alimony of \$200.00 in addition to that share. This meets the acid test of being manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous. There is no proof in this record to support such a result.

:

### POINT TWO: THE INCOME OF THE HUSBAND WAS NOT SUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY ALIMONY OF \$200.00 PER MONTH

It is uncontroverted that the health of Mr. Walker is tenuous to say the least. He has serious heart and vascular disease requiring him to take ten prescription drugs daily. He has had three heart attacks and had a pacemaker installed.

Mrs. Walker is left a nice home and a car debt free. No debt was apportioned to her. She earns a salary of \$1,388.30 and receives \$689.00 per month in Social Security benefits. When she retires, she will receive her PERS retirement.

Mr. Walker has only \$650.14 in a 401K account. He is left with a negative net worth of (\$80,931.00). In its opinion, the trial Court had obvious questions about the credibility of his financial disclosure.

Specifically, the Court was concerned about the difference between his original Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure Statement indicating a gross monthly income of \$9,000.00 and the revised Rule 8.05 Financial Disclosure Statement dated January 19, 2006 reflecting a gross monthly income of \$2,000.00.

This was partly the fault of Mr. Walker's counsel. The Rule 8.05 form promulgated by the Court is designed for a wage earner, not a self-employed person.

Mr. Walker originally correctly stated the gross monthly income from his trucking business at \$9,000.00. However, what the Court needs from a self-employed person is his <u>net</u> income, not his gross income or revenue.

1

To try to clear this up, Mr. Walker called his tax return preparer, Ms. Brenda Wofford, as

an expert witness. She analyzed his 2004 and 2005 IRS 1040 Federal Income Tax Returns for the Court. (R.E. 51)

His trucking business was reflected in Schedule C and his real estate income was reported in Schedule E.

All of his trucking income came from one company and was reported on an IRS Form 1099. So his gross was certainly reliable. Ms. Wofford testified he operated his business with good business records and had cancelled checks to support his expenditures. She considered the data reliable.

In 2004 his total adjusted gross income from all sources was \$18,940.00. His taxable income was \$10,990.00.

In 2005 his total adjusted gross income was a negative (\$2,190.00). His taxable income was zero!

There is no proof from which the Court could conclude these figures were not credible or a misrepresentation to the Court. Just because his trucking business <u>grosses</u> \$150,000.00 it should not be the basis of an alimony award or division of property.

His estimated monthly income on his Rule 8.05 was honestly stated and his net income for the past two years has in fact been <u>less</u>!

The original "gross" income reported of \$9,000.00 was in fact gross income or revenue from his business but it was unfortunate in that it was misleading to the Court.

Ms. Wofford did a good job of clarifying his situation to the Court and her testimony, along with the tax returns for 2004 and 2005 should be the basis for this Court's decision.

ł

It is apparent to the undersigned counsel for Mr. Walker that the Court believed Mr.

Walker had resources beyond his actual means. Mrs. Walker has a furnished home debt free. Mr. Walker must rent a home and furnish the same. He cannot pay \$200.00 per month in alimony and have enough for bare subsistence for himself.

"Alimony is not a punishment and should not be so used." <u>Tilley</u> v. <u>Tilley</u>, 610 So.2d 348 (Ms., 1992)

"...case law mandates that her award of alimony be considered together with the equitable distribution of marital property." Lauro v. Lauro, 847 So. 2d 843 (Ms., 2003)

In her opinion, the Chancellor indicated that Mr. Walker's "testimony of monthly gross income of \$2000.00 is not credible" (R.S. 25).

This finding is simply not supported by this record. Mr. Walker duly filed his Rule 8.05 to that effect. He also filed his income tax returns to corroborate his testimony with respect to his estimated monthly net income from his business. He had his accountant, Brenda Wofford, testify as to the accuracy of his tax returns and records. There was absolutely no proof to contradict his sworn representation to the court. Mrs. Walker did not dispute this. There was no proof of a high lifestyle, etc., to cause one to question his income. His accumulated net worth through the years did not indicate a higher income.

There must be proof to justify a different conclusion and there was none. This finding further calls into question what the court did with this case.

## POINT THREE: THIS COURT SHOULD AWARD THE DODGE DUALLY TO MR. WALKER AS WELL AS THE VACANT LOT

Ι.

As discussed in Point One, the lower Court failed to make an equitable distribution of the

marital assets. The trial Court awarded the Dodge Dually pick-up truck to Mrs. Walker, debtfree. This is an oversized pick-up truck with double rear wheels and is used to pull the gooseneck trailer which was awarded to Mr. Walker. She has no need for this vehicle.

Likewise, the vacant lot should have been awarded to Mr. Walker as part of the comprehensive division of marital assets. In its opinion, the trial Court noted that "their son," Lamar, was deeded part of the vacant lot land across the street from the marital home upon which said son built his home.

However, Lamar is Mrs. Walker's son and is not the son of R.L. Walker. Mr. Walker feels that this gift should in effect be charged against the share of Mrs. Walker and the remaining vacant land should be awarded to him.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Mr. Walker comes to this Court seeking a just result. A divorce is painful enough at the best. He asks for economic justice. He asks that he be granted something to show for his decades of labor while married to Mrs. Walker. Under this record, neither deserves to come out of the marriage with nothing. Mr. Walker got less than nothing. He got saddled with a large negative net worth. One is reminded of the Biblical passage in that he asked for bread, and got a stone. He asked for a fish and got a serpent.