IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

GEORGIA M. WALKER

VERSUS

R.L. WALKER

APPELLANT

CASE NO. 2007-CA-01074

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM

THE CHANCERY COURT OF CLAY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CARRIE A. JOURDAN Mississippi Bar # 113 5th St N P.O. Box 1108 Columbus, MS 39703-1108 Telephone: 662-241-5191 Facsimile: 662-241-5921 Attorney for Georgia M. Walker

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

R. L. WALKER	APPELLANT
VERSUS	CASE NO. 2007-CA-01074
GEORGIA M. WALKER	APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HER DISCRETION IN THE DIVISION OF THE MARITAL PROPERTY AND RELATED DEBTS BETWEEN THE HUSBAND AND WIFE?
- II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HER DISCRETION IN THE AWARDING PERIODIC ALIMONY TO THE WIFE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Georgia M. Walker, hereinafter referred to as "Wife", married R.L. Walker, hereinafter referred to as "Husband", in Clay County, Mississippi on January 1, 1969. Husband and Wife remained in Clay County, Mississippi, until they separated in the year 2004. The only child of the marriage, though a minor at time of the Wife's Complaint for Divorce, was emancipated by the time of the trial.

The Wife filed a fault-based divorce on August 4, 2004, in the Chancery Court of Clay County, Mississippi. At the commencement of the trial, the Chancellor noted for the record the agreement of the parties, with specific acknowledgement of both parties, of the agreement of the parties to the withdrawal of the fault-based divorce, and agreement as the granting of an irreconcilable differences divorce. The only matters submitted to the court were the questions of (1) Determination of what is the marital estate and an equitable division and distribution of same, including, but not limited to, the marital residence, rental property(ies), retirement and pension accounts, household goods and furnishings, and automobiles; (2) alimony and (3) attorney fees. The Chancellor's findings, opinion, and Judgments as to the first two issues are being appealed to this Court. The Chancellor's denial of attorney's fees is not before this court.

Trial was held January 19, 2006. After receiving exhibits and testimony, the Court requested supplementation by the Wife of certain information concerning her PERS account. The Chancellor issued her opinion on March 9, 2006. The Husband moved to reconsider the opinion on April 7, 2006. The Chancellor ordered on June 2, 2006, a reopening of the case for submission of certain financial information. Based on the June 2, 2006, order, the Chancellor held a hearing on August 15, 2006, to allow the parties to raise any objections or ask any questions concerning the new material the Chancellor ordered submitted.

 $\mathbf{2}$

After the hearing, the Chancellor partially granted the Husband's Motion to Reconsider its opinion on December 27, 2006. The Chancellor's initial opinion remained in effect except to the extent modified by the December 27, 2006, order. A Final Judgment of Divorce was entered May 29, 2007, consistent with the Chancellor's March 9, 2006 order, as modified by its December 27, 2006, order. This order issued concerned the division and transfer of certain assets between the Husband and Wife, and awarded periodic alimony of \$200.00 per month to be paid by the Husband to the Wife. On June 25, 2007, the Husband appealed the Final Judgment to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Georgia M. Walker, hereinafter referred to as "Wife", married R.L. Walker, hereinafter referred to as "Husband", married in Clay County, Mississippi on January 1, 1969. Husband and Wife remained in Clay County, Mississippi until they separated in the year 2004. The only child of the marriage, though a minor at time of the Wife's Complaint for Divorce, was emancipated by the time of the trial.

The Chancellor in this case conducted extensive hearings as to the marriage and the property. All property was agreed to be property of the marriage. In her opinion of Match 9, 2006, the Chancellor found that there was a marital home, a duplex, a rental home, and a vacant lot acquired during the marriage (R.E. 23). As to personal property, the Chancellor found household furnishings, a 2000 freightliner truck, a Gooseneck trailer, a 270 John Deere Haycutter, a 1994 Dodge, a 1989 GMC Silverado, a 1992 Cadillac, and a 2004 Denali. In its amended opinion entered December 27, 2006, the Chancellor also found that the Wife had a retirement account labeled a 401(k) account; but, from trial testimony and counsel discussion it was a Mississippi PERS account obtained from her employment incorrectly labeled in the final opinion (R.E. 86, T. 65, R.E. 84). The final Judgment, as amended, awarded the PERS account valued at \$18,399.29 to the Wife, as well as the marital home, the vacant lot, the 1992 Cadillac, 1994 Dodge and all household goods not inherited by the Husband from his mother. The Husband received the duplex, the rental home, the 2000 Freightliner, the gooseneck trailer, the 270 John Deere Haycutter, the frontend loader, the 1989 GMC Silverado, the 2004 Denali, his IRA, guns and household goods inherited from his mother. The Husband was ordered to pay the as when due the unpaid balance on the deed of trust on the marital home and to attempt to seek refinancing and eliminate the Deed of Trust on the marital home (i.e. pay the intermediate obligations under the deed of trust as scheduled until he could obtain a way to satisfy the deed of

trust in full) ; and to pay the balance of any indebtedness on the 1994 Dodge. (R.E. 90-91). The Court found that after this equitable division, that pursuant to *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993), the Wife should be paid by the Husband \$200.00 per month in periodic alimony. (R.E. 26, 87, 91).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The Husband/Appellant seeks to overturn the Chancellor's finding of facts and final judgment as to the division of marital property between he and his Wife. The Husband alleges that the Chancellor failed to note his breadwinning role in the family and that the division of property was not equal, and therefore not equitable. The Wife responds that, based on the testimony and submissions, the Chancellor made all required detailed findings to support her equitable division of the marital property and that sufficient evidence existed in the record to support those findings.

II. The Husband/Appellant alleges that the Chancellor did not make a proper equitable division for her to be able to make a periodic alimony determination, or in the alternative, if the marital property division was equitable, improperly decided the amount of the award of periodic alimony. The Wife responds that the Chancellor found that the marital property division did not fully make the Wife whole to the extent she was entitled, made detailed finding of the facts and made all the necessary conclusions supporting an award of periodic alimony.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HER DISCRETION IN THE DIVISION OF THE MARITAL PROPERTY AND RELATED DEBTS BETWEEN THE HUSBAND AND WIFE?

As the Mississippi Court of Appeals reiterated in *Sullivan v. Sullivan*, 990 So.2d 783, 785(¶ 12) (Miss. 2008), when equitably distributing marital property, a chancellor should consider the well-known factors set forth in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921, 928 (Miss. 1994). Those factors are the following:

1. Substantial contribution to the accumulation of the property. Factors to be considered in determining contribution are as follows:

a. Direct or indirect economic contribution to the acquisition of the property;

b. Contribution to the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationships as measured by quality, quantity of time spent on family duties and duration of the marriage; and

c. Contribution to the education, training or other accomplishment bearing on the earning power of the spouse accumulating the assets.

2. The degree to which each spouse has expended, withdrawn or otherwise disposed of marital assets and any prior distribution of such assets by agreement, decree or otherwise.

3. The market value and the emotional value of the assets subject to distribution.

4. The value of assets not ordinarily, absent equitable factors to the contrary, subject to such distribution, such as property brought to the marriage by the parties and property acquired by inheritance or inter vivos gift by or to an individual spouse;

5. Tax and other economic consequences, and contractual or legal consequences to third parties, of the proposed distribution;

6. The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties:

7. The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and earning capacity; and,

8. Any other factor which in equity should be considered.

The Chancellor in this case conducted extensive hearings as to the property. All property was agreed to be property of the marriage. In her opinion of Match 9, 2006, the Chancellor found that there was a marital home, a duplex, a rental home and a vacant acquired during the marriage. (R.E. 23). As to personal property, the Chancellor found household furnishings, a 2000 freightliner truck, a Gooseneck trailer, a 270 John Deere Haycutter, a 1994 Dodge, a 1989 GMC Silverado, a 1992 Cadillac and a 2004 Denali. In its amended opinion entered December 27, 2006, the Chancellor also found that the Wife had a retirement account labeled a 401(k) account, but, from trial testimony and discussion of counsel was, in fact, a Mississippi PERS account obtained from her employment (R.E. 86, T. 65, R.E. 84). The final Judgment, as amended, awarded the PERS account valued at \$18,399.29 to the Wife, as well as the marital home, the vacant lot, the 1992 Cadillac, 1994 Dodge and all household goods not inherited by the Husband from his mother. The Husband received the duplex, the rental home, the 2000 Freightliner, the gooseneck trailer, the 270 John Deere Haycutter, the frontend loader, the 1989 GMC Silverado, the 2004 Denali, his IRA, guns and household goods inherited from his mother. The Husband was ordered to pay the regular payments on the deed of trust on the marital home; to attempt to seek refinancing and eliminate the deed of Trust on the marital home; and to pay the balance of any indebtedness on the 1994 Dodge. (R.E. 90-91). The Court found that after this equitable division, that pursuant to Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So.2d. 1278 (Miss. 1993), the Wife should be paid by the Husband \$200.00 per month in periodic alimony. (R.E. 26, 87, 91).

From this award, the Husband appeals. In his principal brief at page 13, the Husband states, "Mr. Walker worked hard for many years to accumulate the net worth the parties at the time of the divorce. He was the primary breadwinner during the marriage. ... He accepts the proposition the net worth he and his wife accumulated should be divided equally but does not feel that he should receive less than ½ of the net marital estate." The Husband's invocation of the "primary breadwinner" language is an attempt to deflect from the *Helmsley* Court which stated that, "Mississippi courts assume for divorce purposes that the contributions and efforts of the marital partners, whether economic, domestic or otherwise are of equal value" *Helmsley v. Helmsley*, 639 So.2d 909, 915 (Miss. 1994). This is an attempt to imply manifest unfairness occurred to the Husband because he was the primary breadwinner and that the marital property was not divided 50/50. Unfortunately for him, equal division is not the same as equitable division.

As stated in *Sullivan*, at 787, "[I]t is well established that an equitable distribution of property does not have to be an equal distribution of property. *Hensarling v. Hensarling*, 824 So.2d 583, 590(¶ 20) (Miss.2002). "[T]here is no automatic right to an equal division of jointly-accumulated property, but rather, the division is left to the discretion of the court. . . ." *Parsons v. Parsons*, 741 So.2d 302, 306(¶ 23) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). *Sullivan*, at 784, like the present case before the Court, dealt with an irrevocable difference divorce but that the Chancellor considered the misconduct of the parties in the property division. More specifically, the *Sullivan* Court stated, "[m]arital misconduct is a proper factor for a chancellor to consider when equitably distributing marital assets" "when the misconduct places a burden on the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationship." *See Ory v. Ory*, 936 So.2d 405, 413(¶ 23) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Singley v. Singley*, 846 So.2d 1004, 1007(¶ 8) (Miss. 2002))."

The Chancellor in this case heard the Husband admit that he had fathered more than one child outside the marriage (R.E. 58). The Husband further admitted he was cohabitating with another woman (R.E. 29, 57). Also, the 2004 Dodge Denali was being driven by the other woman with the Husband paying the indebtedness (R.E. 58). The Wife continued to prepare meals, tend to the Husband's clothes and obtain his medicine despite his behavior (R.E. 29). Though the Wife filed for divorce first, the Husband attempted to browbeat the Wife into a divorce agreement he had prepared (R.E. 28). The Husband refused to contribute to the household expenses (R.E. 31). No such bad conduct on the part of the Wife was adduced at trial. While financially contributing to another household, the Husband refused to maintain the household of his marriage. These facts provided the Chancellor ample evidence of misconduct of by the Husband which justified an equitable but less than equal property division.

The Husband in his principal brief restates arguments about the alleged net economic injustice of the Chancellor's decision which he likewise made in his Motion to Reconsider. The Chancellor responded in Paragraph 3 of her December 26, 2006, order (R.E. 86):

Having adjusted the marital distribution (after the finding of the correct balance of the Wife's PERS account), [The Wife's] net worth is now \$115,897.29. She has no liabilities. [The Husband's] net worth is now \$177,350.00. While he argues he has liabilities of \$258,281.00, there was no credible evidence that he has a \$50,000 medical bill. Further he testified that the debt on the additional real property acquired during the marriage (which was <u>all</u> awarded to him), was serviced by the monthly rental payments [T. 57] Therefore, he should not have any monthly payments out of his income for this property. The \$57,000 debt on the marital home (which was awarded to the [Wife]) was acquired to purchase the Freightliner. The Freightliner was needed for [Husband]'s business and since the marital home was debt-free, the parties agreed to secure an equity loan to purchase the truck. The Freightliner was awarded to the [Husband] and as it is used solely in his business, the debt can be paid by the business. The remaining liabilities are for three vehicles solely by the [Husband]. [Husband]'s liabilities must be put in perspective.

The Wife cannot better refute the Husband's arguments herself. However, given the invocation of God to describe the extent of unfairness the Husband claims to have been heaped upon him ("One is reminded of the Biblical passage in that he asked for bread, and got a stone. He asked for a fish and got a serpent." Page 18 of Husband's principal brief), a further response is briefly warranted. Though the Wife could argue whose side the angels are on in this case, she will stick to the more earthly and ancient maxim, "those who seek equity must do equity."

The principal unhappiness of the Husband appears to be with regard to his being required to satisfy the obligation on the marital home in the amount of \$57,000.00. The Husband was awarded the Freightliner worth \$45,000 and the 2004 Denali worth \$50,000, subject to a \$58,000 lien. The parties owned their marital home free and clear. In order to the aid the Husband in his business, the Wife agreed to allow a deed of trust to be placed on the marital home in order to finance the Freightliner purchase in 2001. From the evidence, it appears the Husband was able to generate substantial income from the business of his operating the Freightliner. Instead of using the proceeds from operation of the business to reduce the outstanding obligation on the marital home, the Husband purchased a luxury automobile which created an indebtedness equal to the indebtedness amount on the equity line on the marital home. The Husband serviced the automobile indebtedness instead of using the money to reduce the equity line. It is clear that it was more important to the Husband that his mistress drive around West Point, Mississippi in a new luxury 2004 Denali automobile than to reduce the obligations on the marital home he created with his Wife of thirty-five years. To invoke the Bible at his supposedly inequitable treatment, considering his actual conduct, is simply a demonstration of the height of gall of the Husband. However, there is a long and storied tradition of selective spirituality amongst adulterers.

II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HER DISCRETION IN THE

AWARDING PERIODIC ALIMONY TO THE WIFE?

The Husband challenges the award of periodic alimony on numerous grounds.

As to the issue of alimony, the Supreme Court in Lauro v. Lauro, 847 So.2d 843, 848 (¶

13) (Miss. 2003):

Alimony is considered only after the marital property has been equitably divided and the chancellor determines one spouse has suffered a deficit.

Division of marital assets is now governed under the law as stated in *Helmsley* [*Helmsley v. Helmsley*, 639 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1994)] and *Ferguson*. First, the character of the parties' assets, i.e., marital or nonmarital, must be determined pursuant to *Helmsley*. The marital property is then equitably divided, employing the *Ferguson* factors as guidelines, in light of each parties' non-marital property. *Ferguson*, 639 So.2d at 928. If there are sufficient marital assets which, when equitably divided and considered with each spouse's non-marital assets, will adequately provide for both parties, no more need be done. *If the situation is such that an equitable division of marital property, considered with each party's non-marital assets, leaves a deficit for one party, then alimony based on the value of non-marital assets should be considered.*

Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So.2d 1281,1287 (Miss.1994) (emphasis added).

The Chancellor found that in the next to last paragraph of its initial opinion that (R.E. 26):

The Court finds that the equitable division of the marital assets does not adequately provide for the future income needs of Wife. In accordance with *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993), the Court has considered the aforementioned facts and more specifically, the health and age of the parties, the income and earning capacity and the needs of each party, the obligations and assets of each part, the length of the marriage, the standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of separation, fault or misconduct, as well as the equitable division of marital assets set forth, and the Court awards the Wife the sum of \$400.00 per month as periodic alimony.

The amount was modified to \$200.00 per month after the submission of the Wife's PERS

statement (R.E. 87). The Court made detailed factual findings as to each of these factors in its

initial opinion (R.E. 22-26). The Wife cannot find any fact stated in the Chancellor's opinion not

in the record or transcript nor any illogical or defective reasoning in the opinion. In particular

the Court used the figure of \$2,000 per month as the Husband's gross income as disclosed in his

8.05 Form (R.E. 22). The Husband simply does not agree with the Chancellor's conclusions. As such, his demands for relief from this Court should be denied. This Court is not conducting a *de novo* review therefore it would be improper for this Court to substitute its opinion for that of the Chancellor's.

CONCLUSION

The Appellee, Georgia M. Walker, submits to this Court that the Chancery Court of Clay County did not commit error in the equitable property division or the award of periodic from her Husband, R.L. Walker. Specifically, the Court correctly applied *Ferguson* and *Armstrong* factors properly Therefore, this Court should affirm the opinion and findings of the Chancellor.